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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF INDIANA
INDIANAPOLIS DIVISION

TRACY M. WILLIAMS , )
)
Plaintiff, )
)
VS. )

) No. 1:13ev-01592JMS DKL
BRANDON BROOKS in his individual capacity )
GREGKEHL, in his individual capacityand )
SHANNON TRUMP, in her individual capacity )
)
Defendants )
ORDER

Presently pending before the Court is a Motion for Summary Judgment filefeydants
Brandon Brooks, Greg Kehl, and Shannon Trunfgling No. 4Q] For thereasons that follow,
the Court grants the motion.

l.
STANDARD OF REVIEW

A motion for summary judgment asks the Court to find that a trial is unnecessangdeca
there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and, instead, the movant istentidgment

as a matter of law.SeeFed. R. Civ. P. 56(a) As the current version of Rule 56 makes clear,

whether goartyasserts that a fact is undisputed or genuinely disputed, the party must support the
asserted fact by citing to particular parts of the record, including demssidocuments, or

affidavits. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(1)(A) A party can also support a fact by showing that the

materials cited do not establish the absence or presence of a genuine disputtheatharse

party cannot produce admissible evidence to support the faetl. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(1)(B)
Affidavits or declarations must be made on personal knowledge, set out facts that would be

admissible in evidence, and show that the affiant is competent to testify on rsiatiesFed. R.
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Civ. P. 56(c)(4) Failure to properly support a fact in opposition to a movant’s factual assertion
can result in the movant's fact being considered undisputed, and potentially in the grant of

summary judgmentFed. R. Civ. P. 56(e)

In deciding a motion for summary judgment, the Court need only consider disputed fact
that are material to the decision. A disputed fact is material if it might affect thereutdfahe

suit under the governing lawdampton v. Ford Motor Cp561 F.3d 709, 713 (7th Cir. 2009)n

other words, while there may be facts that are in dispute, summary judgrapptopriate if those

facts are not outcome determinativelarper v. Vigilant Ins. C9.433 F.3d 521, 525 (7th Cir.

2005) Fact disputes that are irrelevant to the legal question will not be consideréerson v.

Liberty Lobby, Inc.477 U.S. 242, 248, 106 S. Ct. 2505, 91 L.Ed. 202 (1986)

On summary judgment, a party must show the Court what evidence it has that would

convince a trieof fact to accept its version of the evenishnson v. Cambridge Indu825 F.3d

892, 901 (7th Cir. 2003)Themovingparty is entitled to summary judgment if no reasonable fact

finder could return a verdict for the nomoving party. Nelson v. Miller 570 F.3d 868, 875 (7th

Cir. 2009) The Courtviews the record in the light most favorable to the mooving party and

draws all rea®nable inferences in that partyavor. Darst v. Interstate Brands Corb12 F.3d

903, 907 (7th Cir. 2008)it cannotveigh evidenceramake credibility deteninations on summary

judgment becausthose tasks are left to thact-finder. O’Leary v. Accretive Health, Inc657

F.3d 625, 630 (7th Cir. 2011)The Court need only consider the cited materiads,. R. Civ. P.

56(c)(3) andthe Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals has “repeatedly assured the distrist tha
they are not required to scour every inch of the record for evidence that isghgtesievant to

the summary judgment motion before theghnson 325 F.3d at 898 Any doubt as to the
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existence of a genuine issue for trial is resolved against the moving Barigetti v. GE Pension

Plan, 614 F.3d 684, 691 (7th Cir. 2010)

A significant twist on the normal standard of review is at play héfleen the record
evidence includes a videotape of the relevant events, the Court should not adopirtioy ziot's
version of the facts when that version contradicts what is depicted on the videSEame.v.

Harris, 550 U.S. 372, 3780, 127 S.Ct. 1769 (200yvhere plaintiff's account of higepeed

chase contradicted videotape of chase, and there were no alledaitoride¢otape was “doctored

or altered in any way, nor any contention that what it depicts differs from whatlgdtappened,”
lower court “should have viewed the facts in the light depicted by the videotapeChrdingly,

the Court relies primarily onideos taken from the dashboard cameras of the police vehicles
present at the scene of Mr. Williams' traffic stop and artest.

Il.
BACKGROUND

The Court finds the following to be the undisputed facts, supported by admissible evidence
in the record:

A. The Initial Traffic Stop

Defendant Brandon Brooks has beelaw enforcement officer for the City of Noblesville

Police Departmensince 2009. Hiling No. 421 at 1] He is a graduate dhe Indiana Law

Enforcement Academy ILEA”) and has received all of the training requiredtbg State of

Indiana for his position as a police officeEiling No. 4241 at 1]

1 A DVD containing the four videos was filed at Filing No. 44. The Court cites to tfird®se
videos (with the relevant time on each video) as follows: (1) Brooks Video (dashboathcam
video from Officer Brooks’ police car from 1:18 a.m. to 1:52 a.if2);Lindenschmidt Video
(dashboard camera video from Officer David Lindenschmidt’s police car frafha.m. to 2:07
a.m.); and (3) Kehl Video (dashboard camera video from Officer Gregoryskhice car from
1:27 a.m. to 1:35 a.m.).
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On Octoler 5, 2011 at approximately 1:15 a.m., Officer Brooks was on duty and travelling
north on State Road 37 before its intersection with Greenfield Avenue in Noleedgviling No.
42-1 & 1.] Approaching this intersection, State Road 37 has a dedicated left turn lane witish beg
approximately 600 feet from the intersection, splits from the inside lane, agpasted from the

inside lane by a solid white lineFi[ing No. 421 at 2 Filing No. 424.] Officer Brooks observed

a Chrysler 306- which he later learned was driven by Plaintiff Tracy Williaam®ove from the
outside lane on State Road 37 to the left turn lane without activating its turn sigaly 0.

42-1 at 2] Officer Brooks, who was approximately 100 to 150 feetrmeMr. Williams, also
observed that Mr. Williams entered the turn lane several feet north of wheuerthane began,

crossing the solid white line that divides the two lanes to doBitind No. 421 at 2] Officer

Brooks observed that Mr. Williams did not activate his left turn signal until hednaslled several
feet in the left turn lane, when he was about 100 feet from the intersection with &ceanénue.

[Filing No. 421 at 2] Officer Brooks interpreted this signal to be for the turn onto Greenfield

Avenue. Filing No. 421 at 2] Mr. Williams testified that his normal habit is to put his turn

signal on as he enters a turn lane, but was not able to testify that he was certain he sathdbdne

night. [Filing No. 425 at 34 (stating that he was “sure | did it the same way | usually do” and did

not “know why | would do it in a different way,” but that he did not “have a present memory of
exactly that point” when he moved into the turn lane).]
Because Officer Brooks did not want Mr. Williams to pull over in the intersection, he

waited to activate his emergency lights until after Mr. Williams began turning arteneld

Avenue. Filing No. 421 at 2] When he activated his emergency lights, Officer Brooks’ camera
inside his police vehicle turned on, recording approximately ten seconds betar®thant and

the events that followed.Filing No. 421 at 2 Brooks Video at 1:18.]
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Mr. Williams pulled intoa gas station parking lot located on the northwest corner of the
intersection of State Road 37 and Greenfield Avenue, and Officer Brooks pulled in behind him.
[Brooks Video at 1:19 Just as Officer Brooks exited his police vehicle and began to approach

Mr. Williams’ vehicle, Officer Greg Kehl arrived at the scenéilifig No. 427 at 1] Officer

Kehl has been an officer with the Nobld/Police Department since 200% a graduate of the
ILEA, and has received all of the training requiredtmsyState of Indiana for his position as a

police officer. [Filing No. 427 at 1]

When Officer Brooks approached Mr. Williams’ vehicle, he observed that Mr.awigli
window was rolled down only two inches, which was an item of interest to OfficekBbecause
he had learned in his training that lowering the window a small amount “is common te y&opl

want to avoid detection by odor of their breath or inside of their cdfiling No. 421 at 2]

Officer Brooks requested that Mr. William®ll his window down, and he rolled it down

approximately another inch Filing No. 421 at 2 Brooks Video at 1:19 Officer Brooks then

advised Mr. Williams why he had been pulled over, and asked him for his licensgestication.
[Brooks Video at 1:19.] Officer Brooks also asked Mr. Williams whether he had beemdrinki
and Mr. Williams advised that he had not. [Brooks Videb:2Q] At that point, Officer Brooks

did not observe any signs that Mr. Williams was intoxicatdeiling No. 421 at 3] Officer

Brooks did believe, however, thslr. Williams “had an attitude.” Hiling No. 421 at 2] Officer

Brooks said to Mr. Williams “you’re acting like you kind céve an attitude with me right now.
Like | pulled you over for no reason.” [Brooks Video at 1:20.] Mr. Williams responded that he
normally puts his turn signal on, and that it had been a long day. [Brooks Video at 1:20.] Mr.
Williams gave Officer Broo& his license antegistration and Officer Brooks told him to “hang

tight,” and that he would be right back. [Brooks Video at 1:21-1:22.]
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Officer Brooksreturned to his car, ran Mr. Williams’ license plate and registration, and

determined that “[e]verythg checked out.” Hiling No. 421 at 3] Although Officer Brooks

believed that Mr. Williams had engaged in a traffic violation by failing to signal hi@ment

into the left turn langhe decided to issue him a warningilihg No. 421 at 3] Officer Brooks

told Officer Kehl he could leave the scene and proceeded to print Mr. Williamsagvéicket.

[Filing No. 421 at 3 Brooks Video at 1:22 After checkng Mr. Williams’ license plateand

registration and printing out the warning ticket, all of which took about three minutésgrOff
Brooks got out of his squad car to return to Mr. éfitis’ car. [Brooks Video at 1:22 to 1:25.]

B. Mr. Williams Exits His Car and Gets Back In

As Officer Brooksexited his car andtarted to approach Mr. Williams’ cavlr. Williams

abruptly began to exitis car. Filing No. 51-2 at 51Brooks Video at 1:25.] Officer Brooks had

learned through his training that his position — away from his own car with no covereneaf

the most vulnerable positions for an officer to be in during a traffic stéiind No. 421 at 3

51-2 at 51] Officer Brooks also had never encountered a person getting out of treiddaaving

the scene during a traffic stopEiljng No. 421 at 3]

Officer Brooks sal “Hey, you need to stay in the car” and, wiMm Williams kept exiing
his car Officer Brooks said “Get in yowrar.” [Brooks Video at 1:25.Mr. Williams kept walking
away from his car, an@fficer Brooks again sdi“Get in yourcar. I'm not plging games with
you. Get in yourcar. Get back in the car now[Brooks Video at 1:25.]Mr. Williams did not
get back in the car arslatedthat he was getting a paper towel to clean iiis mirror. [Brooks

Video at 125; Filing No. 422 at 2] Officer Brooks saidListen, get back in the car,” aridr.

Williams said“Don’t pick a fight with me, dude.” [Brooks Video at 1:250fficer Brooksthen
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drew his taser anshid“Get back inyourcar now or | will tase you,” anlllr. Williams again said
“Don’t pick a fight with me,” and startet get back in his car. [Brooks Video at 1:25.]

At that point,Officer Brooks radioefbr Officer Kehl to returnd the scene[Brooks Video
at 1:25.] Mr. Williams closedhis cardoor and starteth say toOfficer Brooks “I understand what
you're....” [Brooks Video at 1:25.fficer Brook said’l don’t careif you appreciate it. If | tell
you get back in the car,op get back in the car. What is your deal? What's your deal?hy
would you getout of the car on a traiff stop is what I'm asking you.” [Brooks Video at 1:26.]
Mr. Williams respondethat he had a dirty mirror and wanted to clean it,@ffcter Brooks again
askedMr. Williams if he hadhad anything to drinkto which Mr. Williams respondedno.”
[Brooks Video at 1:26.]

C. Officer Brooks Orders Mr. Williams To Get Out of His Car for a Pat-down Search
and Field Sobriety Test

Because Mr. Williamsad exited his caand because of his demean@fficer Brooks
believed he might be impaired and determined that he should perfiard@vn search anfield

sobriety test. Hiling No. 50-1 at 1621.] Officer Brooks asked Mr. Williams if he mindstepping

out of the carMr. Williams saidsomething unintéiible, and Officer Brooks saithecause’m
asking you to step out of yogar.” [Brooks Video at 1:26.]Mr. Williams thenaskedOfficer
Brooks if he hagrobable causend Officer Brooks responded “will you step out of the car?”
[Brooks Video at 1:26.] Mr. Williams again asked if Officer Brodiesd probable cause, and
Officer Brooks saidI’'m asking you to step out of the car right now. You need to listen. | can
ask you to step out of the car in a traffic stop so get out of the car. Get out of tkiebtaut of

the car.” [Brooks Video at 1:26.]Mr. Williams saidsometling and Officer Brooks responded
“because | wanto run you through field sobriety because apparently you're not getting what's

going on.” [Brooks Video at 1:26.]
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Mr. Williams then got out of the car, and sviacing Offcer Brooks. Officer Brooks said
“face that way for me,” pointing for Mr. William® face towardis own car. [Brooks Video at
1:26.] Mr. Williams took a stefpward Officer Brooks and sale should give him a breatlaér.
[Brooks Video at 1:26.]Officer Brooks again saitface that vay for me,” therfturn aroung’
and grabbedr. Williams’ right arm and pushdam toward his car[Brooks Video at 1:26.Mr.
Williams said somethingunintelligible, and Officer Brooks said'm not playing with you.”
[Brooks Video at 1:26.]Mr. Williams pus$edagainst the car with his left hanldack toward
Officer Brooks, and saitif you're going to do this, you're going to visit with my attorney, son.”
[Brooks Video at 1:26.]0fficer Brooks said “listen” antiquit resisting,” and Mr. Williams said
“I'm not resisting,” but again pushezbainsthe car with his left hand back toward Officer Brooks.
[Brooks Video at 1:27.]

Officer Brooksthen radioed@sking Officer kehl to “step it up a little bit.”[Brooks Video
at 1:27.] At that point, Officer Brooks was trying to dgaedth of Mr. Williams hands behindib
back, and Mr. Williams was pushitgck against Officer Brooks, causing them both to move back
away from the car[Brooks Video at 1:27.] Officer Brooks pushed Mr. Williams into the side of
his car. [Brooks Video at 1:27.Mr. Williams then spun to the right, so hesafacing Officer
Brooks, and Officer Brooks lostis grip on Mr. Williams’ left arm and eventually on both arms
so that Mr. Willians was then facing Officer Brooks. [Brooks Video at 1:27.] Mr. Williams took
a step towardOfficer Brooks, and twice Officer Brooks toMr. Williams to “turn around
[Brooks Video at 1:27.]Mr. Williams said“are you on video by the way?,” and Officer Brooks
respondedyes, I'm on video.” [Brooks Video at 1:27.] Mr. Williams shruggeid soulders,
and Officer Brooks said “Turn around. Turn around. Put your hands above your head.” [Brooks

Video at 1:27.] Rather than turning to face his vehicle, Mr. Williams made a 360 degreso



he was still facing Officer Brooks[Brooks Video atL:27.] Mr. Williams briefly put his hands
above his head and said “what do you want from me?” [Brooks Video at 1:27.]

D. Officer Kehl Returns to the Scene

Officer Kehl then arrived back at the scen@&rooks Video at 1:27.]He ordered Mr.
Williams toturn aroundhree timeshen when Mr. Williams did notgrabbed Mr. Williams and
turned him so he was facing his car. [Brooks Video at 1.9fficer Kehlordered Mr. Williams
twice to put his hands behind his back, then pulled Mr. Williams’ hands behind his back when M
Williams did not comply.[Brooks Video at 127.] Officer Kehl then handcuffed Mr. Williams.
[Brooks Video at 1:27.]Mr. Williams said “Guys, this is gonte really bad. You're going to
put me in handcuffs? For what? This is goba a really bad video for you guys.” [Brooks Video
at 1:27.] Officer Kehl said “ljust saw what you did to him. That's assault on a police officer.”
[Brooks Video at 1:27.Mr. Williams denied that #vas assault on a police officer. [Brooks Video
at 1:27.]

Officer Brooks then proceeded to pat Mr. Williams down, and asked him again if he had
had anything to drink that night. [Brooks Video at 1:28.] Mr. Williams said “I've told o
several times. Why do you keep asking me?” [Brooks Video at 1:28.] Officer Bropksdes
“because normal people that haven't been drinking don’'t act like you're acting right now
[Brooks Video at 1:28.] Mr. Williams saitL.ook, I've had a very long day. | was up since 6 a.m.
this morning, | had meetings beginning early, and | had meetings runnirig[Bteoks Video at
1:28.] Officer Brookswalked Mr. Williams to his squad car and pladad in the back seat.
[Brooks Video at 1:28.]Mr. Williams said“this is gonnabe rally bad on your report, son” to
Officer Brooks. [Brooks Video at 1:28.] At that point, Officer David Lindenschmidt arriged

the scene.[Brooks Video at 1:28; Lindenschmidt Video at 1:28Jr. Williams said“this is



uncomfortable on mwrists,” and Gficer Kehl said“it's not supposed to be otfortable okay”
[Brooks Video at 1:29.] Officer Brooks said “we’ll be with you in a secbadd Mr. Williams
said“you guys are about to head into deep water.” [Brooks Video at 1:29.]

E. Witness Joshua Jones Bserves the Altercation

Joshualones was working at the gas statio@evening of October 5, 2011, observed the
traffic stop, and completed a Voluntary Statement Riwatheveningn which he stated:

It appeared that the officer was trying to get theadrto cooperate and the driver

was not cooperating. The officer attempted to restrain the driver. Itreppbe

driver swung an elbow at the officer. That was when 2 other officerscoivéne

scene and where [sic] alite cuff the driver.

[Filing No. 42-11]

F. Sergeant Trump Arrives at the Scene
Shortly after Officer Brooks placed Mr. Williams in his squad car, Sergeamn8ha
Trump, the shift supervisdhat evening, came to the scene and spoke to Mr. Williams while he

was in the back seat of Officer Brooks’ squad car. [Brooks Video at Bil8#y No. 429 at 2]

Sergeant Trump hdseen employed by the Noblesville Police Department as a law enforcement
officer since 2002, attended the ILEA, and has received the training required®iate of Indiana

for her position as a police officerFiling No. 429 at 1]

Mr. Williams asked Sergeant Trump if he could megh the hief of the Noblesville
Police Departmenh the morningandsaidthatOfficer Brooks was “very hostile and aggressive,”
thathe did not know why Officer Brooks had pulled him over, titmtomplied with everything
Officer Brooks asked of him, that Officer Brooks wanted to do a field sobesty andhat he
had asked whether Officer Brooks had probable cause to administesthfBrooks Video at
1:34.] Sergeant Trump told Mr. Williams they did not need probable cause to do a field sobriety

test. [Brooks Video at 1:34.] Mr. Williams told Sergeant Trump th&fficer Brooks“got

10
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aggressive” with him “slammed [him] againte car,” puthim in handcuffs, and that he
understood how these things worked because he had several friends who were state troopers.
[Brooks Video at 1:341:35.] He said “I understand the job, and | resgeeind | appreciate it.”
[Brooks Video at 1:35.]Mr. Williams saidhe had no disrespect for the officers involved but that

“l think you’ve got an officer who’s a little bit ovexggressive, and probably needs to be reined

in a little bit.” [Brooks Video at 1:35.Mr. Williams stated that he wasbusiness owner and had
several people that were depending on him being in the office the next day. [Brooks Video at
1:35.] He said “sitting here is extraordinarily inappropriate,” especially in hdfedthat were
hurting his wrists. [Brooks Video at 1:399r. Williams said he would “be happy to” take a field
sobriety test or submit to a breathalyzer, but that “for some reason [Officek$} decided to

slam [him] against the car and put [him] in handcuffs.” [Brooks Video at 1:35.] Mliawvd
againstated that it was inappropriate, and that the video and audio tape would support that.
[Brooks Video at 1:35.] When Sergeant Trump asked Mr. Williams if Officer Brbalstold

him not to walk away from his car but he did walk awily. Williams sad that Officer Brooks

was giving him contradictory messages by telling him first to stay in théhearto get out athe

car. [Brooks Video at 1:36.]Mr. Williams explainedhat he noticed his side mirror was dirty, so

he had decided to go get a pajmvel and wipetioff. [Brooks Video at 1:36.]When Sergeant
Trump saidto Mr. Williams that, especially since he has friends in law enforcement, e mus
understand that when an officer tells him to do something during a traffic stopshdanit unless

it is unlawful, Mr. Williams respondethothing | did threatened him &ny way.” [Brooks Video

at 1:36.] Mr. Williams then saiche was “compliant,” but that Officer Brooks was “overly hostile

and aggrssive.” [Brooks Video at 1:3d.:37.] Mr. Williams again said that it ved'extraordinarily

inappropriate” for him to be sitting in the squad car with handcuffs, and again stételdetha
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handcuffs were hurting him. [Brooks Video at 1:3He askedSergeant Trump to take the
handcuffs off and, when she said no, askedto repeat it to “make sure we have thatape.”
Hethen again consented a field sobriety test[Brooks Video at 1:37.]

G. Field Sobriety and BreathalyzerTests

Shortly thereafterOfficer Brooks removedir. Williams from thesquadcar. [Brooks
Video at 1:46.]Mr. Williams told Officer Brooks “you guys an’t know who | am and you don't
know what | do, but this is gonnend badly— and not badly for mé& [Brooks Video at 1:46.]
Officer Brooks then explained to Mr. Williams that he was going to adminidietdasobriety
test. [Brooks Viceo at 1:46.] OfficeLindenschmilt was also presewluring the field sobriety

test. Filing No. 429 at 2 see alsdBrooks Video at 1:46.] During the field sobriety test, Mr.

Williams stated that hevas“getting tired of this gamé [Brooks Video at 1:48.]wWhenOfficer
Brooksinstructed Mr. Williams to follow the tip of a pen without moving his head, and using only
his eyesMr. Williams refused to follow the instruction and moved his higach side to side.
[Brooks Video at 1:48.] As a resuldfficer Brooks terminated the field sobriety te§Brooks
Video at 1:48.] Mr. Williams consented to a breathalyzer, [Brooks Video at MBi¢h
registered a 0% reading for bloattohol level.

H. Mr. Williams is Arrested and Charged

Officer Brooks then advised Mr. Williams that he was being arrested fetingsa police
officer, [Lindenschmidt Video at 2:00], and transported HimmHamilton County Jail. The
Hamilton County Prosecutor’s Office charged Mr. Williams with resisting lafereement and

battery. Filing No. 4213 at 2] On March 6, 2012, Mr. Wilims signed a Pretrial Diversion

Agreement, acknowledging that he was “admitting the truthfulness of the chgegest dini

and ‘thatsuch admission may be used against him...if there is a resumption of the prosecution of
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these charges by reasont@mination from the pretrial diversion programPiling No. 42-12 at

2.] The Pretrial Diversion Agreement included, among other things,ditimonthat Mr. Williams

complete anger amagement treatmentFiling No. 4212 at 3] Because Mr. Williams did not

comply with the anger management treatment comditiee Pretrial Diversion Agreementas

terminated [Filing No. 42-13 at 3

l.  Mr. Williams’ State Court Trial
In April 2012, a bench trial was held regarding the charges against Mr. Willigbes

Filing No. 562.] The Hamilton County Prosecutor’s Office dropped the battery charge against

Mr. Williams, based at least in part on Officer Brooks’ statements to thecptosehat Mr.

Williams did not commit battery against him during the traffic stdpeeFiling No. 4213 at 2]

At the conclusion of the bench trigthe State Court Judge dismissed the resisting law enforcement

charge upon Mr. Williams’ motion tdismiss [Filing No. 50-2 at 51-53

J. The Lawsuit

On October 4, 2013, Mr. Williams filed the instant lawsuit against Officer Br@okiser
Kehl, and Sergeant Tmp, all in their indivdual capacities. Hiling No. 1] Mr. Williams asserted
the following claims: (1) violation of the Fourth Amendntefoir use of excessive force under 42
U.S.C. 81983 against Officer Brookslated to pulling Mr. Williams over, grabbing his arm,
“repeatedly forc[ing] him against his vehicle,” “forcibly ramm{[ing]tbedy into the driver’s side
mirror while forcing both of his hands into Mr. Williams’ back, inflicting ongoing pawd a

physicalinjuries,” and threat@ng Mr. Williams with a weapon[Filing No. 1 at 1112]; (2)

violation of the Fourth Amendmennder 42 U.S.C§ 1983against Officer Brooks for unlawful

2 Mr. Williams also brings his claims under theufteenth Amendment. The Fourteenth
Amendment’s due process clause is the vehicle by which the Fourth Amensmpeplicdle to
the states Wolf v. Colorado 338 U.S. 25, 27-28, 69 S.Ct. 1359, 93 L.Ed.2d 1782 (1949)
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stop andarrest, for pulling him over when he “did not comiamy traffic infraction justifying the

initiation of the stop [Filing No. 1 at 1213]; (3) violation of the Fourth Amendmeninder42

U.S.C. 8§ 198against Officer Kehl for unlawful stop and arrest for “[knowing] that @ffiBrooks
did not have a sufficient basis to stop Mr. Williams’ vehicle,” “assagjt[Mr. Williams,” and
“placfing] Mr. Williams in handcuffs while Officer Brosk held aweapon pointed at Mr.

Williams,” [Filing No. 1 at 1314]; (4) violation of the Fourth Amendmeunnhder 42 U.S.C8 1983

against Officer Kehl for failure to protect Mr. Willianty “falsely claim[ing] that he observed
‘fighting’ between Officer Brooks and Mr. Williams while he was approagltthe scene in a
moving vehicle and while he had an obstructed view,” and “fail[ing] to take reasongideste

prevent harm from occurring tMr. Williams,” [Eiling No. 1 at 1415]; and (5) violation of the

Fourth Amendment under 42 U.S.&£1983 against Sergeant Trump for failure to protect Mr.

Williams and suprvise Officer Brooks, Filing No. 1 at 1517].> Defendants now move for

summary judgment.Hling No. 4Q]

.
DiscussIoN

Defendants move for summary judgment on all of Mr. Williams’ claims. Mr. Williams
opposes and, in doing so, relies upon the findings oftdtecourt judge in his criminal trial to

argue, among other things, that he did not resist law enforcente®.e[g, Filing No. 49 at 3

4.] The Court notes at the outset ttta statecourt judge was considierg whether the State had
proventhe charges against Mr. Williams beyond a reasordtét, while this Court applies a
very different standarddiscussed below. This Court is not bound by the state court judge’s

findings, and will not give those findings any controlling or preclusive weight irptbiseeding.

3 Mr. Williams filed a Statement of Claims on October 30, 2014, which sets forthsdlaahare
consistent with those asserted in the Complaifiin No. 38]
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Defendants argue in suppof their summary judgment motion that Mr. Williams’ claims
fail substantively because Defendants did not violate his constitutional, rigifitshat they are
entitled to qualifiedmmunity from Mr. Williams’claims in any eventThe Court will addresie
issues in the order the parties have raised them.

A. Unlawful Stop and Arrest Claims

Mr. Williams alleges that Officer Brooks VJaied his FourthAmendment rights by
unlawfully stopping and arresting him because: (1) Officer Brookstiedtithe stop tdetermine
whether Mr. Williams was a drunk driver; (2) although Officer Brooks’ stated pufpostpping
Mr. Williams was that Mr. Williams did not signal his lane change into the turn laigedWrom
Officer Brooks’ car clearly shows that Mr. Willianwas stopped at a turn light and that Mr.
Williams’ turn signal was flashing when Officer Brooks pulled into the turn lanenteldr.
Williams’ stopped car, before Officer Brooks activated his police lightsgrmakihis presence”;
and (3) Mr. Williams did not commit any traffic infraction justifying the traffic stbpt was
“repeatedly threatened with a deadly weapon, repeatedly assaulted, injuredjffedndad

arrested.” [Filing No. 1 at 1213.] Mr. Williams also alleges that Officer Kehl violated his Fourth

Amendment rights because he should have known Officer Brooks did not have a reasonable basis
for stopping him or arresting him, and because Officer Kehl assaulted him vadiegohim in

handcuffs. [Filing No. 1 at 13-14

Defendants argue in support of their Motion for Summary Judgment thatslreaieénce
that Mr. Williams violated Indiana traffic statutes by failing to signal his mowneiméo the left

turn lane. Filing No. 41 at 13 They assert that Officer Brooks had probable cause to initiate the

traffic stop, and probable gse is an absolute defense to a false arrest claim 8d983. Filing

No. 41 at 1314.] Defendants note that Mr. Williams did not testify with certainty that he signale
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his movemat into the leftlane, but only that this was his usual practicéiliig No. 41 at 15

Defendants alsargue that it is not a violation of the Fourth Amendment to arrest an indivatu
even a very minor traffic offense, and that because Officer Brooks had prohabito initiate
the traffic stop, any charges arising from the same incident (includegrasisting law

enforcement charge) are constitutionally valililifg No. 41 at 1516.] In any event, Defendants

argue, the evidence shows that Mr. Williams did in fact resist law enforceméresst[ing]
[Officer] Brooks’ efforts to turn him atnd and move him towards the car by ‘stiffening up’ and
planting his feet,” by “detach[ing] his wrist from [Officer] Brooksigibefore shovingQfficer]
Brooks away,” and by “pulling away’ from [Officer Brooks’] grasp which ugus enough to

supporta conviction.” Filing No. 41 at 19 Defendants note that both Mr. Jones and Officer

Kehl observed that Mr. Williams was not cooperating with Officer Brookginfl No. 41 at 2]

Defendants also point to Mr. Williams’ Pretrial Diversion Agreement, wheeegdmitted to the

charges against him, including resisting law enforcemeflingg No. 41 at 23 Finally,

Defendants argue that OffieeBrooks andehl are entitled to qualified immunity because there
was probable cause to initiate the traffic stop and to arrest Mr. Williamse$wsing law

enforcement.[Filing No. 41 at 24-27

Mr. Williams responds that there wag poobable cause to initiate the traffic stop because
he did not commit a traffic violatiosincehe “was pretty certain that his turn signal had been

activated as that was his normal routind practice to do so.”Hiling No. 49 at 71 Mr. Williams

also argues that, in any evemg, did not “change lanes,” but rather “selected an additional lane of

travel, the turn lane, for his eventual turn onto Greenfield Avenugiling No. 49 at § He

asserts that thedDrt cannot weigh or determine the credibility of evidence on summary judgment

and that the basis for the traffic stop is a question of fact that precludes sunmhgangt. [Filing
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No. 49 at 9 Mr. Williams further argues that there was no probable cause to arresomim f
resisting law enforcement because he did not flee, but merely “innocuaiisly leis vehicle and
walked toward the gas station in order to obtain a paper towdeam his side mirror,” and
complied with Officer Brooks’ requests to-eater his vehicle and then to exit his vehicle for a

field sobriety test. Hiling No. 49 at 1611.] Mr. Williams asserts that the basis for the traffic stop

ended when he denied drinking alcohol, and so “Officer Brooks was not lawfully engabed in t
execution of his duties as an officer at the time that he initiated the violemtadhlesscounter and

battery agaist Mr. Williams.” [Filing No. 49 at 1] Mr. Williams argues that he had the right to

ignore Officer Brooks and “go about his business” because Officer Brooksl laieable cause,

but that he did in fact cooperate with Officer Brooksilifig No. 49 at 13 Mr. Williams contends

that his Pretrial Diversion Agreement is not admissible, and does not dsfaidiable causen

any event [Filing No. 49 at 15-1§

On reply, Defendants assert that the proper focus is whether Officer Breskaably
believed that Mr. Williams engaged in a maywiolation, and that signaling as he entered the turn
lane (which is what Mr. Williams testified he did) does not comply with thadrsiffitute which

requires signaling several feet before entering the turn I§iaking No. 55 at 4 As for the

resisting law enforcement arrest, Defendants reiterate their argument thagassl|there is
“arguable” probable cause to support any charge, there is no Fourth Amendmerdryialadi

here there was probable cause to support a charge for the traffic viold&ilmg [No. 55 at 34.]

Defendants point to the video evidence, which shows Mr. Williams failing to folléfwee®
Brooks’ multiple instructions to roll down his window, return to his car, get out of hisnchtumn
around, and also video of Mr. Williams stiffening up and physically resistinge@fBBcooks.

[Filing No. 55 at § Finally, Defendantsrgue thadeposition testimonyrom the gas station
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attendant, Mr. Joneshat he believed Officer Brooks used excessive force is irrelevant to the

probable cause analysig=iljng No. 55 at 7]

Mr. Williams brings his false arrest claim under 42 U.S @983, which requires him to
demonstrate: “(1) that he was deprived of a right secured by the Constitutiors @f he United
States, and (2) that the deprivation was visited upon [him] by a person or persogsiager

color of state law.”Reynolds v. Jamispd88 F.3d 756, 764 (7th Cir. 200(QuotingKramer v.

Village of North Fond du Lac384 F.3d 856, 861 (7th Cir. 200@juotation marks omitted))A

roadside traffic stop constitutes a “seizure” under the Fourth Amendiiiiot.v. Sheriff of Rush

Co. 686 F.Supp.2d 840, 853 (S.D. Ind. 201®police may make a traffic stop when they have

probable cause to believe the driver has violated a traffic law, even a minddoited States v.

McDonald 453 F.3d 958, 960 (7th Cir. 2006) (citidéhren v. United State517 U.S. 806, 810,

116 S.Ct. 1769, 135 L.Ed.2d 89 (19P6)

In order to succeed on a false arrest claim ugd&®83, Mr. Williams must show that he

was arrested without probable cau§mnzalez v. City of EIgir578 F.3d 526, 537 (7th Cir. 2009)

Bugariu v. Town of St. John, In@014 WL 958025, *3 (N.D. Ind. 2014)The big question in a

false arrest claim under...federal law is whether the defendant had probable causarfiast”).
Probable cause is “an absolute defense to a wrongful arrest claim under [2281883.” Rooni

v. Biser 742 F.3d 737, 740 (7th Cir. 2018eauchamp v. City of Noblesville, Ind20 F.3d 733,

746 (7th Cir. 2003)

“Probable cause to make an arrest exists when a reasonable person conftbiedswm
total of the facts known to the officer at the time of the arrest would conclude thatrsoa pe

arrested has committed, is committing, or is about to commit a crivenson v. Altamiran&49

F.3d 641,649 (7th Cir. 2014) see alsoHuff v. Reichert 744 F.3d 999, 1007 (7th Cir. 2014)
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(“Probable cause exists when ‘the facts and circumstances within [the sfflcasivledge and of
which they have reasonably trustworthy information are sufficient to warianidant person in
believing that the suspect had committed an offensePjobable cause “is a fluid concept that
relies on the commesense judgment of the officers based on the totality of the circumstances.

United States v. Reed43 F.3d 600603 (7th Cir. 2006) Courts “step into the shoes of a

reasonable person in the position of the officewpisideringhe facts known to the officer at the

time [but] do not consider the subjective motivations of the offic&hayerv. Chiczewski705

F.3d 237, 246 (7th Cir. 201 ®itations omitted)

1. Officer Brooks

a. Initial Traffic Stop

Officer Brooks initiated Mr. Williams’ traffic stop because he believedWMitliams had

violatedIndiana Code 8§ 9-21-8-2Which provides that:

A signal of intention to turn right or left shall be given continuously during not less
than the last two hundred (200) feet traveled by a vehicle before turning or changing
lanes. A vehicle traveling in a speed zone of at least fifty (50) miles per hdlur sha
give a signal continuously for not less than the last three hundred (300)velstdra

by the vehicle befa turning or changing lanes.

Mr. Williams focuses on his testimony that he generally activated his turn sigeal wh
moving into turn lanes, so believes he did so on the evening that he was pulled over oy Office

Brooks. [Filing No. 49 at 78.] But Mr. Williams’ argument is fatally flawed, becausaether

he actually activated his turn signal is irrelevant to the probable caugsiandll that matterss

that Officer Brooks reasonably believed that Mr. Williams did not activateim signal)enson

749 F.3d at 69, and the Court finds that his belief was reasonable. Officer Brooks consistently

testified and stated in the police repdhat he observed Mr. Williams move from the outside lane
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to the left turn lane without activating Hisrn signal. $ee, e.gFiling No. 421 at 2 Filing No.

42-2 at 1 Filing No. 504 at 5]

Mr. Williams has not presented any evidence which would indicate that Offfoek8
belief that Mr. Williams had not activated his turn signal was not reasondhtieed, Mr.
Williams’ only real argument to dispute that there ywasbable cause for the traffic stop is that he
routinely signals when he switches into a turn lane, so believes he would hawe doaevening

of the traffic stop. $ee, e.gFiling No. 49 at 78.] Again, whether Mr. Williams actually activated

his turn signal is irrelevant, and his general statements about his usual routine dbintd ca

guestion the reasonableness of Officer Brooks’ befefeJones v. Gy of Elkhart, Ind, 737 F.3d

1107, 1114 (7th Cir. 2013ffinding officer had probable cause for traffic stop and noting

“[plaintiff] denies that he was speeding because he was always careful to obey the speed limit
when driving on that stretch of road — but this assertion, on its own, does nothing to rebut the fac
that [the police officer] reasonably believed [plaintiff] was speedingo @ut into question the

accuracy of the radar gun....Qnited States v. Murie#18 F.3d 720, 724 (7th Cir. 2008)ating

that in determining whether there was probable cause for traffic stop, “wieonée inquire
whether the officer had probable cause to believeaheaffic violation occurred.not whether
[the driver] actually was tailgating”) (internal citation wt@d). The Court finds that Officer
Brooks had probable cause to pull Mr. Williams over for failing to activatauhissignal when

switching into the lefhand turn lané.

4 Mr. Williams also argues thaven if he did not activate his turn signal to move into thenkafid

turn lane, this conduct did not violate Indiana statutny eventso Officer Brooks did not have
probable cause to pull him overEiljng No. 49 at §“Regardless, Mr. Williams did not ‘change’
lanes, as there were no lane markings which distinguish the inception of the turn laathdsut r
selected an additional larof travel, the turn lane, for his eventual turn onto Greenfield Avenue”).]
But even ifMr. Williams’ interpretation of the Indiana traffic statute is correct,@ffcter Brooks

was mistaken regarding whether Mr. Williams’ actions actually violated attexe was still
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b. Arrest for Resisting Law Enforcement

Mr. Williams also claims that Officer Brooks violated his Fourth Amendment rigits
arresting him for resisting law enforcement without probable catkseing found that Officer
Brooks had probable cause to conduct the traffic stop, it follows that Offioek8had probable
cause to arrest Mr. Williams without violating his Fourth Amendment rigletgen for resisting

law enforcement.SeeUnited States v. Child277 F.3d 947, 953 (7th Cir. 200@¢A person

arrested for an offense punishable only by a fine typically is givenatoait(a ‘ticket’) and

released, buatwater[v. City of Lago Vistgb32 U.S. 318, 121 S.Ct. 1536, 149 L.Ed.2d 549 (4001)

holds that the Constitution allows the police to place the person in custodykanurtato be

booked”);Jones 737 F.3d at 1116O0nce Officer Snyder had probable cause to conduct the traffic

stop of Jones for speeding, he could arrest Jones without violating his Fourth Amendment
rights...Thus, we need not address whether Officers Snyder and Moore also had pealssbte ¢

arrest dnes for OWArefusal or OWAendangerment”Mudd v. Lyon2014 WL 218443, *7 (N.D.

Ind. 2014)(“plaintiff could have been arrested for the traffic offenses discussed dbmheding

Ind. Code§ 9-21-8-25]...Because defendants could have arrested plaintiff for the traffic offenses
without violating his Fourth Amendment rights, plaintiff's Fourth Amendment righte uat
violated when havas arresteffor operating while intoxicated], and the court need not engage in
a detailed probable cause analysis with regard to plaintiff's alleged omlattithe Indiana OWI

law™).

probable cause to initiate the traffic stop because the Court finds that suchka mmiéd have
been reasonabl&eeHeien v. North Carolingl35 S. Ct. 530, 5390 (2014)officer had probable
cause to initite traffic stop where&ehicle had only one working brake light amificer believed
this constituted a violation of North Carolina statute,dtatute actually only required one working
brake light).
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In any event, the Court finds that Officer Brodiad probable cause to believe that Mr.
Williams committed the crime of resisting law enforcement. Mr. Williamitgally ignored Officer
Brooks’ six commands to get back in his car. He only acquiesced after a seventmdanoha
threat that Officer Byoks would tase him if he did not return to his a&then Mr. Williams finally
returned to his car, then exited his car after Officer Brooks askedepieatedlyto get out, Mr.
Williams was uncooperative and would not turn around so that Officer Broak$tandcuff him
andpat him down. He ignored commands from Officer Brooks to either face towacdrhis
turn around. When Officer Brooks attempted to handcuff him, Mr. Williams woulétaim do
so, spun aroundyroke free of Officer Brooks’ gripand took a step toward Officer Brooks. The
video clearly shows Mr. Williams pushing against his car and back toware&CBiiooks, so that
his body is pushing back against Officer Brooks. Officer Breadignificantly smaller than Mr.
Williams® — was unable to gain control of Mr. Williams so that he could handcuff him. Mr.
Williams then ignored three more commands from Officer Brooks to turmdroMr. Williams’
repeated refusal to comply with Officer Brooks’ commands to turn around or @arhihis
refusal to be handcuffed, and his pushing against his car into Officer Brooks sditteatEdboks
could not gain controgave Officer Brooks probable cause to believe that Mr. Williams was

resisting arrest.SeelC § 3544.1-3-1(“A person who knowingly or intentionally: (1) forcibly

resists, obstructs, or interferes with a law enforcement officer or a @asisting the officer while
the officer is lawfully engaged in the execution of the officer's dutiesmmits resisting law

enforcement™ Draper v. Reynolds369 F.3d 1270, 12767 (11" Cir. 2004)(police officer had

“ample probable cause” to arrest individdat resisting law enforcement whelne had pulled

5 Officer Brooks was 5’9” and 170 pounds at the time of the incidEititagf No. 421 at 4, and
Mr. Williams was 6’3" and 195 poundd;i[ing No. 425 at 3.
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individual over for taillight violationand individual “repeatedly refus[ed] to comply with [the
officer’'s] reasonable instructions, and...act[ed] belligerently and confrom#dly”). Officer
Brooks is entitled to judgment asnatter of law as to Mr. Wilims’ claims of unlawful stop and
arrest.
2. Officer Kehl

Mr. Williams alleges that Officer Kehl viated his FourthAmendment rights by
unlawfully stopping and arresting him because he knew or should have known that E)fimes
did not hae a sufficient basis to stogr arrest him, and becausefioér Kehl assaulted Mr.

Williams while placing him in handcuffdFiling No. 1 at 1314.] The parties do not address Mr.

Williams’ claim against Officer Kehl for unlawful stop amdrest, but the Court will consider
whether Officer Kehl is entitled to summary judgment on that claim based on thergamerats
Defendants make in connection with that claim as asserted against Officés.Bidalak v.

Associated Physicians, 1n@.84 F.2d 277, 280 (7th Cir. 198@olding that where one defendant

files a motion that is equally effective in barrimg tclaim against the other defendants, the Court
maysua spontenter judgment in favor of the additional Amoving defendant if the plaintiff had
an adequate opportunity to argue in opposition to the motion).

In his unlawful stop and arrest claim aga@#ficer Kehl, Mr. Williams alleges that Officer
Kehl “knew or should have known that Officer Brooks did not have a sufficient basis to stop Mr.
Williams’ vehicle,” and alsahat Officer Kehl “assaulted Mr. Williams, who was standing with
his hands in thair when Officer Kehl arrived, and placed Mr. Williams in handcuffs whikec@f
Brooks held a weapon pointed at Mr. Williams,” and “knew or should haverktieat he and

Officer Brooks did not have a sufficient basis to arrest Mr. Williamgitinlg No. 1 at 14 The

Court considers each theory in turn.
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a. Initial Traffic Stop

Although Mr. Williams alleges that Officer Kehl somehow knew or should have known
that Officer Brooks did not have a sufficidrgsisto stop Mr. Williams for a traffic violation, it is
undisputed that Officer Kehl was not present when Officer Brooks observed Mrgitieoving
into the turn lane on State Road 37, but rather arrived at the scene as Officer Bropk#imgas

Mr. Williams over in the gas statigrarking lot. Bee, e.gFiling No. 427 at 1] Moreover, as

discussed above, the Court has already found that Officer Brooks did in fact have pralsdle ca
to make the traffic stop. Accordingly, Mr. Williams’ claim that Officer Kehl violated
constitutional rights because he should have known that Officer Brooks had no basis to pull him
over fails as a matter of law.

b. Officer Kehl’'s Handcuffing of Mr. Williams

Mr. Williams claims that Officer Kehl violated his constitutional rights by handuyff
him. The parties dispute wifer Mr. Williams was resisting Officer Brooks’ effortsiiandcuff
him and pat him down, but what is relevant is whether Officer Kehl's perception afubgon

was reasonableVenson 749 F.3d at 6490fficer Kehl had initially left the scene after Officer

Brooks told him he could do soFi[ing No. 421 at 3] When Mr. Williams exited his car while

Officer Brooks was approaching him to give him the warning ticket, Officeol& radioed for
Officer Kehl to return to the scen¢Brooks Video at 1:25.] Shortly thereafter, Officer Brooks

radioed for Officer Kehto “step it up a little bit.” [Filing No. 427 at 2 Brooks Video at 1:27

Officer Kehl “could hear from [Officer Brooks’] voice that he was stedssand “emgaged [his]

lights and siren.” Filing No. 427 at 2] Upon arriving at the scene, Officer Kehl observed Officer

Brooks and Mr. Williams engaged in a struggle, and “saw Mr. Williamsitlan elbow at Officer
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Brooks.” [Filing No. 427 at 2]°® Officer Kehl apprached Mr. Williams, Mr. Williams ignored

Officer Kehl'sthree commargito turn around, an@fficer Kehl thenproceeded to handcuff him.

[Filing No. 427 at 2]

The Court again notes that probable cause is an absolute defense to a claim of unlawful

arrest unde 1983,Rooni 742 F.3d at 740and finds that Officer Kehl had probable cause to

handcuff Mr. Williams, based on his reasomabetlief that Mr. Williams was resisting Officer
Brooks’ efforts to handcuff him. This reasonable belief was based on Bfoeks’ request that
he return to the scene and “step it up a little bit,” and on Officer Kehl's observdtenhe arrived
at the scene that Mr. Williams and Officer Brooks were struggling, and thatMrams threw
an elbow at Officer Brooks. Whether or not Mr. Williams actually threw an ellhd@ffecer
Brooks, or actually assaulted Officer Brooks (Offican@ks testifiedlater that he did not), is
irrelevant. A reasonable person in Officer Kehl's position could have conchatddrt. Williams
was resisting and needed to be handcuffed. Any claim that Officer iKddled Mr. Williams’
constitutioral rights by handcuffingim fails as a matter of law.

c. Arrest for Resisting Law Enforcement

Any claim that Officer Kehl should have known Officer Brooks did not have a sufficient
basis to arrest him foesisting law enforcement fails because the Court has already concluded that
Officer Brooks had probable cause for making that arrest.

3. Qualified Immunity
In any event, Defendants argu®fficer Brooks is entitled to qualified immunity. To

determine whether a defendant is entitled to qualified immunity, courts mussaddo isues:

¢ Officer Kehl’s observation that Mr. Williams threw an elbow at Officevdks is consistent with
Mr. Jonesinitial account who wrote in hisvoluntary Statement Form that “[i]t appeared the
driver swung an elbow at the officer.Fi[ing No. 42-11]
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“(1) whether the defendant violated the plaintiff's constitutional rights andi{&)her the right at

issue was clearly established at the time of the violatioRdoni 742 F.3d at 74Zcitation

omitted). “In other words, the plaintiff must show not only ] constitutional rights were
violated, but that any reasonable official under the circumstances would harzedd¢hthis]

rights were being violated.Easterling v. Pollard 528 Fed. Appx. 653, 6567 (7th Cir. 2013)

“To be clearly established at the time of the challenged conduct, the right's contast be
‘sufficiently clear that every reasonable officiabuld have understood that what he is doing
violates that right,” and ‘existing precedent must have placed the statutagnstitutional

guestion beyond debate.Rabin v. Flynn725 F.3d 628, 632 (7th Cir. 201@uotingHumphries

v. Milwaukee Cnty.702 F.3d 1003, 1006 (7th Cir. 20}1.2)

The Court has already concluded that Officer Brooks did not violate Mr. Williams
constitutional rights by initiating the traffic stop or by arresting him for resistmgtdorcement,
becaus®©fficer Brookshad probable cause for both actions. Accordingly, because there has been
no violation of constitutional rights, the Court need not consider Officer Brooks’ addlitiona

defense that he is entitled to qualified immuniiucha v. Village of Oak Brogk50 F.3d 1053,

105758 (7th Cir. 2011fwhen there is no constitutional violation, defendants “do notinetpe

additional protection of qualified immunity”). The Court noteswever, that even if there was
not actual probable cause to pull over and arrest Mr. Williaatthough the Court holds that there
was— there was at least “arguable probaldese”’such that Officer Brooks could be entitled to

qualified immunity from Mr. Williams’ unlawful stop and arrest clai®eeGutierrez v. Kermon

722 F.3d 1003, 1008 (7th Cir. 2013yualified immunity provides shelter for officers who have
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‘arguable probable cause’ to arrese., those officers that reasonably but mistakenly believe they
have probable cause”).

In sum, Offices Brooks andehl acted with probable cause, and Mr. Williarakims
against them for unlawful stop and arrest|@ts Il and 1ll) fail as a matter of law.

B. Excessive Force

Mr. Williams asserts a claim of excessive force under 42 U&X®83 against Officer

Brooks. Filing No. 1 at 11-13 Mr. Williams alleges that Officer Brooks grabbed his right arm,

“repeatedly forced him against his vehicle,” “forcibly rammed [his] body the driver's side
mirror while forcing both of his hands into [his] back,” and “repeatedly thredtéfr. Williams

with a weapon during the incident.Filing No. 1 at 17

Defendants argue in support of their motion that the act of pushing Mr. Williaanmsstag
his car was not excessive, that OffiBgooks did not use a taser on Mr. Williams but would have
been justified in doing s@and that the circumstances indicate that Officer Brooks’ use of force

was reasonable F{ling No.41 at 2930.] Defendants note that Mr. Williams posed an immediate

threat to the safety of the officers on the scene, that Mr. Williams onisnest to his car when
Officer Brooks threatened to tase him, that Mr. Williams did not comply with @fiiroks’
requests for him to turn around so he could be handcuffedadiedi glown, that Mr. Williams was

actively resisting arrest, and that Mr. Williams was larger than OfficesiBrofFiling No. 41 at

30-31] Although Mr. Williams does not assert an excessive force claim adaifiser Kehl,

Defendants argue that Officer Kehl’s act of placing Mr. Williams in harisleudis not excessive

because he took actions to make sure the handeefis not too tight. Hiling No. 41 at 3]

” The Court’s statements regarding the application of qualified immunity to Offimks’
actions apply equally to the actions of Officer Kehl whichs the Court has discussed abeve
were alsesupported by probable cause atrthe very least, “arguable probable cause.”
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Finally, Defendants argue that Officer Brooks would be entitled to qualifiedunity because the
evidence shows that Mr. Williams was “putting up a sustained struggle” thasiaisekthe use
of force, and “there are no cases in this circuit making it ‘clearly estadlisihat a few shoves
against a suspect’s car and subsequent handcuffing while that subject aesistly/ violates a

person’s constitutional rights.”F{ling No. 41 at 32-33

Mr. Williams responds by arguing that he “calmly interacted” with&@ffiBrooks, did not
pose an immediate threat@dficer Brooks’ safety, and did not exhibit signs of being intoxicated.

[Filing No. 49 at 1617.] Mr. Williams argues that although Officer Brooks claims he intended to

pat down Mr. Wliams, Officer Brooks’ actions show that he was attempting to injure and/or

handcuff him. Filing No. 49 at 1] Mr. Williams points to Mr. Jones’ deposition testimony that

he foundthe actions of Officer Brooks and Officer Kehl to be excessikFéing) No. 49 at 1718.]

Mr. Williams also contends that he did, in fact, assert an excessive fanteagainstOfficer
Kehl, and that Officer Kehl used excessive force when he “attacked Mramall shoved him

into the vehicle, and then facilitated his arrest and physical detentiéiirig[No. 49 at 1§

Defendants reply that the video provides evidence that the force Officers Buatikshl
used was not excessive, and that Mr. Jones’ opinion regarding whether that foeseesssve is

not relevant. Filing No. 55 at § Defendants note that Mr. Williams never received medical

treatment for any back pain, does not take medication for it, and no injury would ltaveedc

had he not resisted.Fifing No. 55 at § Defendants assert thislr. Williams has waived his

excessive force claim against Officer Kefiiling No. 55 at §

A claim that an officer used excessive force in seizing an individual is “analyzedthed

Fourth Amendment’s ‘objective reasonableness’ standa@dham v. Connqr490 U.S. 386,

388, 109 S.Ct. 1865, 104 L.Ed.2d 443 (1989T]he test of reasonableness under the Fourth
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Amendment is not capable of precise definition or mechanical applicationgt 396(citations
and internal quotation marks omitted). Factors relevant to the inquiry includeng $gwerity of
the crime at issyd2] whether the suspect poses an immediate threat to the safety of thes officer
or others, and [3] whether he is actively resisting arrest or attemptinvgde arrest by flight.”

Baird v. Renbarger576 F.3d 340, 344 (7th Cir. 200@)terations in original) (quotinGraham

490 U.S. at 396 “The dispositive question is whether, in light of the facts and circumstdrates t

confronted the officer (and not 20/20 hindsight), the officer behaved in an objectivelyaigiason

manner.” Padula v. Leimbach656 F.3d 595, 602 (7th Cir. 201(tjtation and iternal quotation

marks omitted). This requires “a careful balancing of the nature and apfdhiy intrusion on the
individual’'s Fourth Amendment interests against the countervailing goesrtal interests at

stake.” Phillips v. Community Ins. Corp678 F.3d 513, 519 (7th Cir. 201@uotingGraham

490 U.S. at 396, 109 S. Ct. 18@8jternal quotation marks omitted).

An officer’s use of force is “judg[ed] from the totality of the circumstanaethe time ©

the [seizure].” Fitzgerald v. Santoro707 F.3d 725, 733 (7th Cir. 201@lterations in original)

(citation and internal quotation marks omitted). In analyzing whether arerdfitorce was
reasonable under the circumstances, the Court must “remain cognizant afctthibeat police
officers are often forced to make sgecond judgments- in circumstances that are tense,
uncertain, and rapidly evolving about the amount of force that is necessary in a particular

situation.” Abbot v. Sangamon County, IIF05 F.3d 706, 724 (7th Cir. 201@juotingGraham

490 U.S. at 397, 109 S.Ct. 1965The Courtmust therefore give “considerable leeway to law

enforcement officers’ assessments about the appropriate use of force in dangeatiosisi

Baird, 576 F.3d at 342 “[W]hen material facts (or enough of them to justify the conduct

objectively) are undisputed, then there would be nothing for a jury éxckptsecondguess the
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officers,” therefore, “[i]n this situation...the reasonableness of the fased is a legal question.”

Cyrus v. Towrof Mukwonagp624 F.3d 856, 862 (7th Cir. 201@mphasis in originalquoting

Bell v. Irwin, 321 F.3d 637, 640 (7th Cir. 2003)

“Plaintiffs need not show physical injury in order to sustain an excessive farog chs
“an arrest can be effectuated by the slightest application of physical br by some other show

of authority.” Baird, 576 F.3d at 344{citing California v. Hodari D, 499 U.S. 621, 625, 111 S.

Ct. 1547, 113 L.Ed.2d 690 (1991)‘The issue is simply whether, once it is clear...that a seizure

has occurred, that seizure meets Fourth Amendment standBalsd! 576 F.3d at 344

In evaluating the conduct at issue here, the Court must “carve up the incidengméntse
and judge each on its own terms to see if the officer[s] w[ere] reasonable ataggehDeering

v. Reich 183 F.3d 645, 652 (7th Cir. 199@jtation and quotation marks omitted). Therefore the

Court must determine first whether “a seizure occurred,” and if it did, whetisdrstizure meets

Fourth Amendment standard®4ird, 576 F.3d at 344and whether the seizure violates clearly

established lawMiller, 698 F.3d at 962 Although the parties do not discuss each seizure

separately,lte Courtwill do so andwill consider each seizu®r which Mr. Williams claims
excessive force was usedchronological order, starting with Officer Brooks’ actions during the
traffic stop.

Additionally, the Court agrees with Defendants that Mr. Williams has not asserted a claim

against Officer Kehl for excessive forteHe may not assert such a claiwr fthe first time in

8 In his Complaint, Mr. Williams only refers to Officer Brooks in connection withehicessive
force claim. PeeFiling No. 1 at 1312 (mentioning only Officer Brooks in “Count+ Fourth
Amendment Violatior- Excessive Force”).] Further he ordgdresses actions by Officer Brooks
in his Statement of Claims relating to the excessive force cldhming No. 38 at 3(discussing
only Officer Brooks in connection with “Coyitl: Fourth Amendment Violatior Excessive
Force — Officer Brooks”).] Mr. Williams cannot assert a claim that was not allegedsin h
Complaint for the first time in his response to the Motion for Summary Judgnparticularly
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response to a motion for summary judgment. The Gallrheverthelesaddress Officer Kehl's
actions out of an abundance of caution.
1. Officer BrooksThreat To Tase Mr. Williams
It is not clear whether Mr. Williams is alleging th@fficer Brooks used excessive force
when he threatened to tase him, but the Court will consider this to be the fust sleé is relevant
to Mr. Williams’ excessive force claim. The undisputed evidence shows that Mr. Williams began
to exit his car whe Officer Brooks had already exited his squad car and was walking toward Mr.

Williams’ car to give him avarning ticket. Filing No. 512 at 5% Brooks Videaat 1:25.] Officer

Brookstestified that he had learned through his training that this posia@ray from his own car
with no cover-was one of the most vulnerable positions an officer can be in during a traffic stop.

[Filing No. 421 at 3 Filing No. 522 at 51] Officer Brooksalso testified that during his tinzes

a police officer, no other person he has pulled over for a traffic mnlats attempted to exit his

or her car during the traffic stopFiling No. 421 at 3]

Officer Brooks immediately told Mr. Williams to stay in his car, but Mr. Williams did not
listen and continued to exit ficar and walk away[Brooks Video at 1:25.]Officer Brooks told
Mr. Williams a total of seven times to get back in his car, and Officer Brooks diconuly.

[Brooks Video at 1:25.10nly after giving Mr. Williams ample opptmity to comply did Officer

where he also did not addrekat claim in his Statement of ClaimSeeHancock v. Potter531
F.3d 474, 480 (7th Cir. 2008)We decline to reach the substance of [plaintiff's] hostile work
environment claim because she never alleged such a claim in her district copidiot It was
raised for the first time in her opposition to [defendant’s] motion for summary grig@ind so it

is not properly before this Court”).
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Brooks threaten to tase Mr. William$Brooks Video at 1:25.] And only after being threatened
with the taser did Mr. Williams return to his cdBrooks Video at 1:257]

Mr. Williams attempts to paint a very different piatwof the events that took place during
thetraffic stop, arguinghat he was simply getting a paper towel from the gas station to clean his
mirror, and that he “reentered his vehicle after Officer Brooks dutduta to do so.”[Filing No.

49 at 17] Butthe video tells a very different story. Mr. Williamsvho was significantly larger
than Officer Brooks- blatantly ignored seven separate commands to return to hisMar.
Williams’ true motivation for exiting his car igelevant. Instead, the Court must consider whether
Officer Brooks behaved in an objectively reasonable manner in threatening Mrta&/illiams.

The United States Supreme Court hasrirtsed that, in the traffic stop context:

It is...reasonable for passengers to expect that a police officer at the s@ene of

crime, arrest, or investigation will not let people move around in ways that could

jeopardize his safety....The risk of harm to both the police and the occupants is
minimized if the officers routinely exercise unquestioned command of the
situation....What we have said in these opinions probably reflects a societal
expectation of “unquestioned [police] command” at odds with any notiorathat
passenger would feel free to leave, or to termination the personal encounter any

other way, without advance mpeission.

Brendlin 551 U.S. at 25&citations and internal quotation marks omitted). Additionatg t

Seventh Circuit Court dAppeals has made clear that law enforcement may point their firearms at

individuals “when there is a reasonable threat of danger or violepodide.” Baird, 576 F.3d at

346, seealso United States v. Howard’29 F.3d 655, 660 (7tGir. 2013)(holding that it was

reasonable under the Fourth Amendment for a police officer to order an individual touhd gr

% “A police officer may make a seizure by a show of authority and without thefysteysical
force, but there is no seizure without actual submissi@réndlin v. California 551 U.S. 249,
254,127 S. Ct. 2400, 168 L.Ed.2d 132 (20059, although Officer Brooks did not actually deploy
the taser, the Court will consideistthreat to tase Mr. Williams a seizure because Mr. Williams
only returned to his car aft@fficer Brooks made that threat.
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at gunpoint because the facts demonstrated that “the concern for cdfier \was specific and
strong,” and noting that cadeslding otherwise involve situations where the officers had no reason
to believe the individual was “dangerous”).

Given Officer Brooks’ vulnerable position between the two cars, the fact trditl et
know why Mr. Williams was exiting his cathe fa¢ that Mr. Williams was significantly larger
than him, and the fact that Mr. Williams ignored seven commands to get back in the ¢2ourt
finds that Officer Brooks hakkgitimatereason to fear for his safety, and thatthreat to use a

taser on MrWilliams was reasonable given the circumstan&=eDraper, 369 F.3d at 127fot

excessive force when officactuallydeployed taser so that he could handcuff individual during
traffic stop for obstructing law enforcement, where traffic stop wdBcudlit, tense and uncertain,”
and individual had refused to comply with officer’s five requests to retrieve dotsifnem his
vehicle). Mr. Williams’ claim of excessive force against Officer Brooks for theestg to tase
him —to the extent he is asserting that claifails as a matter of law.

2. Officer Brooks’ Use of Force Whehttempting a Patlown Search oMr.
Williams

The next seizure the Court identifies is Officer Brooks’ useoafef whenattempting to
conduct a patiown searchof Mr. Williams. Mr. Williams alleges that Officer Brooks used
excessive force by pulling Mr. Williams, grabbing his arm, “repeatedbjfifa] him against his

vehicle,” “forcibly ramm[ing his] body into the driver’s side mirror whiledioig both of his hands

into Mr. Williams’ back,[and]inflicting ongoing pain and physical injuries[Filing No. 1 at 11
12]

Again, the Court must considethetherOfficer Brooks’ actionsvere reasonablia light
of the circumstances. Officer Brooks testified that when Mr. Williams figadtyback in his car

after seven commands to do so aftérthe threat of being tased, Officer Brooks asked him again
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if he had been drinking because he had never seen someone exit their car durirgstéopadhd

thought maybe Mr. Williams had done so because he was intoxicgidohg No. 501 at 19

Brooks Video at 1:28.] Officer Brooks then determined that he sloaulduct a field sobriety

test on Mr. Williams, given his unusual behavi¢Eiling No. 581 at 1719.] Accordingly, he

ordered him to exit his car so that he could pat him down t@®mare he was not carrying any
weapons. [Brooks Video at 1:28.]
Mr. Williams again attempts to paint himself as a passive, complidividoal when he

exited his car for the second timgsee, e.gFiling No. 49 at 1{after he exited his vehicle to get

a paper towel, Mr. Williams “reeated his vehicle after Officer Brooks directed him to do so”;
“Mr. Williams then exited his vehie after Officer Books ordered him out of the CarmMr.
Williams “reentered his vehicle at the officer’s direction after officer began yelling at him
and after Mr. Williams exited his cafOfficer Brooks initiated a physical encounter with Mr.
Williams and began battering hipj® But the video contradicts Mr. Williams’ characterization

of his actions, and the Court bases its decision on the video evidéae®cott 550 U.S. at 379-

80. Specifically, the video shows that:

* Officer Brooks asked Mr. Williams to exit his car six times before Mr. Williams
finally did so;

« Officer Brooks asked Mr. Williams to turn around and face toward hjdoar
Mr. Williams instead took a stepward Officer Brooks;

« Officer Brooks told Mr. Williams tdace toward his car and to turn aroutiten
grabbed Mr. Williams’ right arm to turn him toward his wdren Mr. Williams
would not turn around;

101n support of his argument that he did not resist, Mr. Williams states in his resp@idbat
“Officer Lindenschmidt statethat Mr. Williams was ‘very calm, very cool, very polite, very
respectful.” [Filing No. 49 at 1§ This is misleading at best, as Officer Lindenschmidt did not
interact with Mr.Williams until after Mr. Williams was handcuffed and in the back seat of Officer
Brooks’ squad car.Hiling No. 522 at 67.]
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» Officer Brooks pushed Mr. Williams up against the car, but Mr. Williams
pushed against the car with his left hand, causing his lwdy tback into
Officer Brooks;

* Mr. Williams continued to push against the car with his left hand, so that his
body went back into Officer Brooks;

* Mr. Williams pushed back several times, then spun around to the right so he
was facing Officer Brooks, which caus@dficer Brooks to lose his grip on Mr.
Williams’ left arm and eventually on both arms; and

» Officer Kehl then arrived and handcuffed Mr. Williams.

Considering the three factors set forth by the Seventh Circuit Court of Appdads
severity of the crime, whether there is an immediate threat to the officeaty,safd wheter the
plaintiff was actively resisting the Court finds that, based on the video evidence, Officer Brooks’
use of force against Mr. Williams was reasonalnld not greater than necessafyrst, although
it ultimately turned out not to be the case, Officer Bragesonably suspectduatMr. Williams
was impaired given that Mr. Williams had abruptly exited his car while Officer Brooks was
approaching to give him his warning ticket, and given that Officer Brooks had exquetienced
an individual exiting their car without permission during a traffic stop. QOff&teoks’ use of
force was designed to pat Mr. Williams down and admingstiéeld sobriety test, given Officer
Brooks’ reasonald suspicion.

Second, Officer Brooks testified that he felt threatened when Mr. Williaitesdexis car
on Officer Brooks’ command but failed to turn around and face his car. This perception af a thre
was reasonable because Officer Brooks had notagetgMr. Williams down, and did not know
whether he had a weapon. Additionally, Mr. Williams was larger than OBicerks.

Third, the video indicates that Mr. Williams wplysicallyresisting. Aside from failing
to follow several commands to face his car or turn around, Mr. Willfanatbly resisted Officer

Brooks’ efforts to handcuff him by pushing back with his hand on higpoahinghis body into
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Officer Brooks’ lmdy, and eventually breakirfgee of Officer Brooks’ grip. Simply because he
wasnot trying to strike Officer Brooks or flee the scene does not mean that he wasistatg.
Finally, while Mr. Williams now complains that he was injured when Officer Brooks

pushed him into the side of his caseg, e.g.Filing No. 49 at i Mr. Williams did not complain

of any injuryat the scenayhich again points to the reasonableness of Officer Brooks’ actions.

SeeSow v. Fortville Police Dept2010 WL 1490370, *6 (S.D. Ind. 2010Plaintiff did not

complain to any officer about bumping his head. Nor did he complain to jail officialy sbiah
injury or receive medical treatment for the same. Thus, while ‘the offitaets in placing
[Plaintiff] in the police car may have been clumsy or imprudent, [] they wet objetvely

unreasonable’™) (quotinBrant v. Volkert 72 Fed. Appx. 463, 466 (7th Cir. 20D3)

The Court finds that Officer Brooks’ use of force during the struggtle Mr. Williams
was reasonablgiven the circumstances reflected on the vjtteand that no reasonable jury could

find otherwise'? His excessive force claim against Officer Brooks fails as a matter df law.

11 Mr. williams mekesmuch of Mr. Jones’degpositiontestimory thathethoughtOfficer Brooks
usedexcessive force[Filing No. 53-5at18.] But Mr. Jones’lay opinion isirrelevantto the

issueand thus inadmissiable, asthereasonableness forceis judged fromthe perspective oa
reasonable police officem Officer Brooks’ position, and notrom Mr. Jones’perspective.

12To the extent Mr. Williams’ excessive force claim relates to Officer Brooksipg his taser at

Mr. Williams at this point as well, the Cdualsofinds that use of force to be reasonable. Mr.
Williams wasnot heeding verbal commands, and the threat of being tased had caused him to return
to his car when he indlly exited It was reasonable for Offic&rooks to again point his taser at

Mr. Williams to try to géhim to turn around so that he could handcuff him and pat him down
before administering a field sobriety test.

Bwhile it is true that “injury is not required to set out a claim for excessive fadagk of injury

can also “tenfd to suggest that there was not excessive forgerrell v. Bieker 2006 WL 287173,

*10 (N.D. Ind. 2006)citing Lanigan v. Village of East Hazel Credtl0 F.3d 467, 471 n.3 (7th
Cir. 1997). Here, Mr. Williams admits #t he did not seek treatment for any injuries resulting
from the use oforce during his traffic stop and has never taken any medication for angjuri
[Filing No. 425 at 1213], which further supports the Court’s conclusion that excessive force was
not, in fact, used.
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3. Officer Kehl’s Interactions With Mr. Williams
As the Court notedMr. Williams has not made an excessive force claim against Officer
Kehl. Even if he had, however, the claim Wwbdail. Mr. Williams claims that Officer Kehl
“attacked” him, shoved him into his car, and “facilitated his arrest andgathyigtention.” [kiling
No. 49 at 19 As discussed above, Officer Brooks had radioed for Officer Kehl to come back to
the scene, then had radioed a second time asking Officer Kehl to “step littigbit” [Brooks
Video at 1:25, 1:27.10fficer Kehl testified that he could sense urgency in OfficepBsbvoice,

and that heactivated his lights and sirea return to the scendFiling No. 427 at 2] When he

arrived, Officer Kehl observed Officer Brooks and Mr. Williams struggland Mr. Williams
throwing an elbow at Officer BrooK$. The video shows th@fficer Kehl ordeed Mr. Williams
to turn around three timebut Mr. Williams did not comply.[Brooks Video at 1:27.]When
Officer Kehl grabbed Mr. Williams and turned himIs® was facing his car, Officer Kehl twice
ordered him to put his hands behind his back. [Brooks Video at 1VZFAgn Mr. Williams did
not comply, Officer Kehl grabbed his hands, pulled them behind his back, and handcuffed him.
[Brooks Video at 1:27.] The force Officer Kehl used to turn Mr. Williams around amdiché
him was reasonable, given that Officer Kehl saw Officer BreoksMr. Williams strugglingsaw
Mr. Williams throw an elbow at Officer Brooks, and that Mr. Williams did ngpoesl to Offcer
Kehl's commands to turn around and to put his hands behind his back.

To the extent thayir. Williams bases an excessive force claim against Officer Kehl on his

handcuffs beindoo tight, the video indicates that Mr. Williams complainedfficer Kehl one

14 Officer Kehl's dashboard camera did maipture Officer Brooks and Mwilliams right when
Officer Kehl arrived back at the scene, because of the angle of Officer Kehts patiwhen he
pulled into the gas station parking lot. [Kehl Video at 1:27.]
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time that the handcuffs were “uncomfortalda@ my wrists.” [Brooks Video at 1:29.] This
complaint is not enough to support an excessive force claim, especially in ligfitcef ®ehl's
undisputed testimony that “as a mattecodirse | plae two fingers on any subjecf]\srist before
double locking the cuffs. Double locking assures that the handcuffs do not closéngenyilgle

on the subject.” Hiling No. 427 at 2] SeeRabin 725 F.3d at 63¢officers entitled to qualified

immunity where there was no evidence thlatntiff “specifically made them aware of his medical
history,” and “generalized complaints of pain [from handcuffs] are insuffiteshow excessive

force”); Stainback v. Dixon569 F.3d 767, 773 (7th Cir. 2000At most, the record shows that

[plaintiff] said that he did not want to be handcuffed because he thought it would hurt and that
[plaintifff complained genmlly about pain after he was handcuffed. Séhegeneralized
complaints, without any elaboration regarding a preexisting injury or othemityf would not
have placed a reasonable officer on notice that [plaintiff] would be injured by #ufiens”).
Although Mr. Williams did not assert an excessive force claim against Offetely Buch a claim
would fail as a matter of law in any event.

Because Officer Brooks and Officer Kehl acted reasonably in exerting torer Mr.
Williams, they are entitled to summary judgment on Mr. Williams’ excessive &baga unde8
1983 (Count 1)

C. Failure to Protect and Supervise

Mr. Williams asserts &ourth Amendmentlaim under 8 1983&gainst Officer Kehfor
“failure to protect,” alleging thai(1) he knew or should have known that Officer Brooks did not

have a sufficient basis to stop Mr. Williams’ car; (2) he “falsely cldithat he observed ‘fighting’

15 Given this conclusion, the Court need not reach Defendants’ qualified immunity atgnme
connection with Mr. Williams’ excessive force claim.
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between Officer Brooks and Mr. Williams while he was approaching the sceneinragrnaehcle
and while he had an obstructed view”; (3) he was aware that “the actions oloasissanother
officer constituted a violation of the Fourth Amendment...”; and (4) he “had atrealpportunity
to do something to prevent harm from occurring to Mr. Williams” and knowingly, ioteaily,

or with reckless disregard for Mr. Williams’ rights failed to do sBilijg No. 1 at 1415.] Mr.

Williams also asserts a “failure to protect superviséclaim against Sergeant Trump, setting
forth allegations similar to his claim against Officer Kehl, but adding thate&etgdrump “had

the ability to do something and prevent harm from occurring to Mr. Williams” bechewas

the supervisingfficer in charge at the scene, and because she “had the ability to review the video
tape from the various vehicles and determine that Mr. Williams did not commit redasting
enforcement or battergn a police officer and could not be arresteddiéegedly committing a

traffic violation.” [Filing No. 1 at 1§

Defendants argue in support of their motion that Mr. Williathailure toprotect claims
fail because no constitutional violation occurred as a result of Officer Braokshs. Filing No.
41 at 33] In any event, Defendants argue, Officer Kehl had no reason to believeilWama/
rights were being violated because he obsekedVilliams using force againgdfficer Brooks,

and not the opposite Filing No. 41 at 334.] They also assert that Mr. Williams’ claim against

Sageant Trump fails because “[t]here is no recognized constitutional right to desed| or
protected by supervising officers after the underlying constitutional tamnlahas been

committed,” and that Sergeant Trump had no duty to investigate furtherskeegalnce a police

officer finds probable cause an officer is under no duty to investigate furttiglirig[No. 41 at

34 (emphasis omitted
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In response, Mr. Williams argues that Officer Kehl failed to protect him f@fficer
Brooks because: (1) he heard Officer Brooks say that Mr. Williams'aeisig like he had an
attitude,” but then “left Mr. Williams at the mercy of Officer Brooks”; (& “exposed Mr.
Williams to the dangeof an agitated officer”; and (3) he failed to prevent or stop Mr. Williams’

unlawful arrest, even though he could have reviewed the videéding[ No. 49 at 20 As to

Sergeant Trump, Mr. Williams responds that even though she reviewed the video, she failed to

stop or prevent his unlawful arrest, and failed to stop or address the pain Mr. Willisans wa

suffering from the handcuffs.Filing No. 49 at 21|

On reply, Defendants argue that Officer Kehl was not presemidich of Mr. Williams’

initial interactionwith Officer Brooks and that, when he returned to the scene, he observed Mr.

Williams throw an elbow at Officer Brooks and “had no reason to dispute [Officer] Bbaiks

that he committed a traffic violation and resisted arrestZiling No. 55 at 910.] Defendats

contend that Officer Kehl had no authority to override Officer Brooks’ conclusions, rsohava

obligated to conduct a more thorough investigatiddling No. 55 at 1(J Further, they argue that

Sergeant Trump did not even arrive at the scene until after Mr. Williams wasuffaddand that
she fulfilled her duty as a shift supervisor by interviewing Officers Brauid Kehl and Mr.

Williams. [Filing No. 55 at 14

“[A]n officer who is present and fails to intervene to prevent other law enforcefiieets
from infringing the constitutional rights of citizens is liable ungl@®83 if that officer had reason
to know: (1) that excessive force was being used, (2) that a citizen has beefiabijuatrested,
or (3) that any constitutional violation has been committed by a law enforceffieiat;candthe
officer had a realistic opportunity to intervene to prevent the harm from auogurbdullahi v.

City of Madison423 F.3d 763, 774 (7th Cir. 200@mphasis in original) (citation and quotation
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marks omitted). The Court has already concluded, based on the undisputed facts, thiat neithe
Officer Brooks nor Officer Kehl violated Mr. Williams’ constitutional rightéccordingly, any
claim that OfficerKehl or Sergeant Trump should have intervened to prevent a violation of those

rights fails as a mattef law.!® Seeleaf v. Shelnut400 F.3d 1070, 1092 (7th Cir. 20qfsilure

to intervene claim failed where court had determined that otheerdfactions did not amount to
a constitutional violation The Court grarst summary judgment to Officer Kehl and Serdgean
Trump on Mr. Williams’ “failure to protect” and “failure to protect and supe&retaims (Counts
IV and V).

V.
CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court finds that Defendants are entitled to judgraent a
matter of law on all of Mr. Williams’ claims. Accordingly, the CoGRANTS Defendants’

Motion for Summary JudgmentFifing No. 4Q] Final judgment will enter accordingly.

March 9, 2015 Q(]MMW\ID'ZS\W-\‘ m

Hon. Jane Magnus-Stinson, Judge
United States District Court
Southern District of Indiana

Distribution via ECF only to all counsel of record

16 To the extent Mr. Williams claims that Sergeant Trump should have taken actiddress his
complaints that his handcuffs were too tight, the Court notes that Mr. Williams atcaege this

in his Complaint or address it in his response brief. yre@entas discussed abowdy. Williams’
generalied complaints that his handcuffs were too tightrateenough to support a constitutional
violation. SeeStainback569 F.3d at 77.3Accordingly, any claim that Sergeant Trump failed to
prevent a constitutional violation based on those complaints also fails.
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